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August 1 - 31, 1952

August 1 - 1k Peckett's on Sugar Hill, Franconia, N.H,
15 . 4 ¢« ¢« « o o Leave Sugar Hill by auto
Arrive Chateau Frontenae, Quebec, Canada
17 (7 a,m.) . . Leave Quebec on Be3, 5t, Lawrence (via Saguenay River)
18 (1£10 p.m,) . Arrive The Manoir Richelieu, Murray Bay, Province of
Quebec, Lanada
21 (1210 p,m,) . Leave Murray Bay on 5,3, St, Lawrence
(6 pem.) . . Arrive Chateau Frontenac, Quebec, Canada
22 , : Leave Quebec by auto
Arrive The Windsor Hotel, Montreal 2, Province of
Cuebee, Canada
Leave Montreal by auto
Arrive The Chantecler, Ste, Adele en Haut, Province
of Quebeec, Uanada
Leave Ste, Adels en Haut by auto
Arrive The Ceneral Brock Hotel, Niagara Falls, Ontario,
Canada
o A Leave Niagara Falls by auto
Arrive Cleveland Hotel, Cleveland, Ohio
September 2 , ., ., . . + + « Leave Cleveland by auto
Arrive Dodge Hotel, Washington 1, D,C,
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THE STORY OF THE PLACE

Where First and A Streets Formerly Met at What Is
Now the Site of the Supreme Court Bwilding

Places, like people, have personalities. They also have
careers. The site of the Supreme Court Building in
Washington is as rich in historical interest as it is now
radiant in architectural symmetry. Its colorful career
falls into nine contrasting periods.

1. Before 1790 came centuries of seremily

Let us begin with Capitol Hill as it was in 1550 and
as it had been for centuries before that. No human being
other than an occasional Indian had seen “The Hill,”
much less visited its crest at sundown and from there
watched the sun set across the still waters and the blue
ridge to the west. The hilltop was covered with oak
trees. The marshy land below it was filled with syca-

mores, silver poplars and alders. From the north, a
nameless brook wound its way through the woods and
westerly to the river. To the south another brook
bubbled from a spring. The tourists of that day were
the deer, the bears, the raccoons and the wild turkeys.
The permanent residents were the grey squirrels—prede-
cessors of those that today enjoy their prescriptive rights

to the hollow tree trunks on the Capitol Plaza. “The

Hill” of that day was known only to the animals, to the
Indians and to God. It was a quiet place that lent itself
to inspiration.

By 1650 a trail had been blazed from the settlements
in the north to the Indian Village near the falls of the
Potomae. Captain John Smith and others, paddling up
from the south, had reached those falls by canoe. Lord
Baltimore had claimed the area under a proprietary grant
from Charles I of England. It was all in a province
named Maryland, in honor of Queen Henrietta Maria.

Tn another hundred years commerce had begun to flow
from the trading center at Bladensburg to Georgetown
and thence to Alexandria. Title to the land was vested




in private ownership. Some of the properties were
known as manors. They produced tobacco and corn.
Before 1790 the manor which included “The Hill” had
been inherited by Daniel Carroll of Duddington. It ex-
tended approximately from what today is L Street on the
north of the Capitol to N Street on the south, between
Third Street on the west, and Third Street on the east.’
The brook that flowed from the north across the foot of
the hill had been named Goose Creek. Later it was to
be renamed Tiber Creek and flow into the canal where
now we see Constitution Avenue. The brook that bub-
bled down to the Anacostia River had been named St.
James Creek. Later it was destined to be the St. James
Canal. “The Hill” was in the very center of this Carroll
property. It was known as Jenkins Hill and no one
dreamed that it might become a point of interest to the
world.

I1. 1790-1815 brought the District of Columbia
to “The Hill”

Late in 1788 the new Constitution for the United
States of America gave the world a new guaranty of

freedom. In it was Article I, § 8, pregnant with destiny
for “The Hill.” That clause gave Congress power to “ex-
ercise exclusive Legislation . . . over such District (not
exceeding ten miles square) as may, by Cession of par-
ticular States, and the Acceptance of Congress, become
the Seat of the Government of the United States . . . .”

1 Within that area, the Duddington mansion house was completed
in about 1797. For more than a century it was to stand between
First and Second Streets, S. E., near E Street. The neighborhood
became known as Carroll Springs. Its location is roughly indieated
now by that of Carroll Street, which extends one block, from First
to Second Street, S. E., between Streets C and D. The house at the
southeast corner of First and C Streets is still marked Duddington
Place. A later development was that of the Carroll Row Houses,
on the site of the Congressional Library. Their presence is not now
commemorated unless it be in the name of the Carroll Arms Hotel
on First Street, N. E., several blocks to the north. At the south end
of the Carroll property and reaching to the Anacostia River, there
was developed a sparsely settled area called Carrollsburg. Its name
survives at Carrollsburg Place, which extends from M Street to N
Street, S. W., in the block just west of South Capitol Street.

[2]




In 1790, such a District, ten miles square, centered around
“The Hill,” was recommended by President Washington
and his adviser, Major Charles Pierre I'Enfant, as the
seat of that new Government. Promptly Maryland, Vir-
ginia and the Congress concurred. The hand of history
wrote fast. In 1791 a cornerstone of the District was laid
in what is now Alexandria, Virginia. The diagonal axis of
the square extending due north located about one-third
of the District west of the Potomac in Virginia and two-
thirds of it east of the Potomac in Maryland. The Presi-
dent named three Commissioners for its government.
They were David Stuart of Virginia, Daniel Carroll of
Maryland and Thomas Johnson, also of Maryland. Car-
roll had been a member of the Constitutional Convention
of 1787. He was not, however, the Daniel Carroll of
Duddington who owned Jenkins Hill. Thomas Johnson
had been a member of the Continental Congress and the
first Governor of Maryland. Later he was to sit as an
Associate Justice on the Supreme Court of the United
States.

In 1791 they named this District of Destiny the “Ter-
ritory of Columbia” and that part of the Distriet which
lay west of the Potomac soon was ceded back to Virginia.
The remaining two-thirds is the “District of Columbia”
as we know it today. The Commissioners required a
small area within the District to be laid out in streets and
squares. They named that area the “City of Washing-
ton.” TIts streets, running due east and west, were to be
lettered alphabetically, in two series, to the north and
south from the Capitol Grounds. Similarly, those run-
ning due north and south were to be numbered consecu-
tively, in two series, to the east and west from the same
point. Major L’Enfant located the site for the Nation’s
Capitol on Jenking Hill. On the same map he located
First Street, N. E. Likewise he identified, as Square No.
728, the area on First Street extending north from East
Capitol Street to A Street. The adjoining triangular
plot extending to the north, from A Street to Maryland
Avenue, he numbered 727.> This land was soon to be ap-
praised at six cents per front foot.

2“A” Street then opened directly into First Street. Its north side
followed the line now marked by the north wall of the north wing

[3]




promptly raised, by private subscription, $25,000. This
proved to be enough to buy this corner and to build there
a temporary Capitol.?

July 4, 1815, its cornerstone was laid. The structure
rose to three stories. The Senate Chamber was on the
ground floor. The Hall of the House of Representatives
was on the floor above. Congress approved the building
and occupied it, paying for its use $1,650 a year which
represented six per cent on the investment, plus $150
for insurance. Congress paid $5,000 more for fur-
nishings, including the later famous red leather chairs for
the Senators. December 4, 1815, the Fourteenth Con-
gress met briefly at Blodgett’s Hotel but, by December
13, both Houses of Congress were in the new “Brick
Capitol.” Vice President Elbridge Gerry of Massachu-
setts having passed away, the presiding officer of the
Senate was its President Pro Tempore, Senator John
Gaillard of South Carolina. The Speaker of the House
was Henry Clay of Kentucky. The Fifteenth Congress,
throughout its life, also met in the Brick Capitol, ad-
journing sine die March 3, 1819. The presiding officer
of the Senate for that session was Vice President Daniel

D. Tompkins of New York. The Speaker of the House
again was Henry Clay of Kentucky.*

In December, 1819, the Sixteenth Congress convened
in the newly rebuilt and permanent Capitol Building on

3 The largest subseriber was Daniel Carroll of Duddington. The
next largest was Thomas Law. Like Carroll, he was a substantial
property owner. He also was a brother of Lord Ellenborough, Lord
Chief Justice of the King’s Bench of England. I Bryan, A History
of the National Capital (1914) ; Busey, Pictures of The City of Wash-
ington in the Past (1898), 129.

*In the Brick Capitol during these two Congresses were heard
many leaders of their day. Among these were Senator Rufus Kine,
of New York, later an unsuccessful candidate for President of the
United States; Representative Philip P. Barbour, of Virginia, later
a Justice of the Supreme Court; John C. Calhoun, of South Carolina,
later Vice President of the United States; William Henry Harrison,
of Ohio, later President of the United States; John MecLean, of Ohio,
later a Justice of the Supreme Court; John Randolph, of Virginia,
later a Senator from that State; John Tyler, of Virginia, later Presi-
dent of the United States; and Daniel Webster, then representing
New Hampshire but later to become Secretary of State and a Sen-
ator from Massachusetts.

[5]




the crest of “The Hill.” TIts reconstruction had been
made possible by a $500,000 loan to the Government from
the Washington banks. The Supreme Court preceded
Congress in its return to the permanent Capitol. There
the Court met in the semi-cirecular room on the ground
floor under the Senate Chamber.

The most unique incident that had occurred in the
Brick Capitol, while Congress occupied it, was connected
with the inauguration of President Monroe and Vice
President Tompkins, March 4, 1817. The advance ar-
rangements for the ceremony conformed largely to pre-
vious custom, except that, instead of holding the cere-
mony in the small Senate Chamber, the plan was to move
the red leather Senate chairs into the Hall of the House
of Representatives. However, the Speaker of the House
had not been consulted and, when confronted with the
plan, Henry Clay objected, particularly to the presence
of the Senate chairs in the House of Representatives.
The arrangements were quickly changed. Vice Presi-
dent Tompkins was inducted into office in the Senate
Chamber and there made his response, but President-
elect Monroe was taken out-of-doors to a temporary
portico which had been erected on First Street, directly
in front of the building. There in the presence of the
general publie, the oath of office was administered to him
by Chief Justice Marshall. There the President delivered
his inaugural address and thus set the precedent for public
inaugurals.’®

An echo of this was heard in the Senate 20 years later, preceding
the inauguration of President Van Buren. Clay was then a Senator
and inquired why it was that the Senate, rather than the House of
Representatives, had “the exclusive care” of administering the Presi-
dential oath. He recalled the incident at the Old Brick Capitol, in
1817, and furnished what is probably our most authentic account
of it. His colloquy of February 28, 1837, is reported in Vol. 13,
Pt. 1, of Gales and Seaton’s Register of Debates in Congress, 24th
Cong., 2d Sess. at 992, as follows:

“THE PRESIDENT pro. tem. presented a letter from the
President elect of the United States, informing the Senate that
he would be ready to take the usual oath of office on Saturday,
March 4, at 12 o’clock, noon, at such place and in such manner
as the Senate might designate.

“Mr. GRUNDY [of Tennessee] offered a resolution for the
appointment of a committee of arrangements, to make the

(6]




Supreme Qourt of e Hnited States
Waslington 13, B. .

CHAMBERS OF
JUSTICE HAROLD H. BURTON November ]_O, 1952

Dear Chief':

ttached is the material which Marshal Waggaman and I
compiled last spring as to the history of the Supreme Court Build=
ing site.

A
AU

2
i

will recall that you then instructed us to gather

material s f at i mlg ht respond appropriately, on May 2, 1952, at

a public ccronony at which the Columbia Historical 5061ety and the
Bar Association of uhe District of Columbia proposed to present the
Court with a bronze plaque commemorating the history of our site =
with Joac1a1 reference to the "0ld Brick Capitol" formerly located
here. When Mr, Regis Noel died, that project was abandoned by the
societies named.

T understand that the plaque is now to be presented to the
Court by the Washington Sesquicentennial Commission without ceremony.
Therefore. in accordance with our discussion of the matter, I have
put this hlStCTlCdl material into the form of the attached article,
Tt is intended for our records and for whomever it may interest. A
copy will be sent to H,P. Caemmerer, Secretary of the Commission of
Fine Arts, who is familiar with the plan for the new plaque and who
also is a member of the Columbia Historical Society. It is his thought
that the Society may wish to print it in their next volume of histori-
cal essays.
T am sending a copy of this letter and its enclosure to each
of the brethren, former Marshal Waggaman, the ulerk, the Marshal, the
portrr of D801olon the Librarian, the Captain of the Supreme Court
”u1ldLnr s Guards, the Director of the Administrative Office of the
United States Courts and our Director of Press Relations, The article
has been printed by our printing office so that additional copies may
be obtained from my secretary by anyone interested.

The Chief Justice




IV. 1819-182/ brought the Circuit Court for
the District of Columbia
When Congress returned to the permanent Capitol, it
crowded out the Circuit Court for the District of Colum-
bia. That court, in turn, was allotted space vacated in
the Brick Capitol. There it met from 1819 to 1824.
Pressure from the local bar induced it to move downtown
to Judiciary Square where it occupied space in the new
City Hall at the head of what is now John Marshall Place.

V. From about 182/ to 1861 the site was used
for a lodging house, including an occupancy
by John C. Calhoun—1I1849-1850
Some time after the Old Brick Capitol ceased to be
used by the Circuit Court, it was converted into a lodging
house. In 1841 we find H. V. Hill advertising furnished

requisite preparations for administering the oath to the President
elect of the United States.

“Mr. CLAY [of Kentucky] said he would like to inquire
whether precedents had been examined on this subject. He was
aware that the Senate had always had a peculiar agency in this
business; but he was not aware why the Senate should act upon
it any more than the House, or why it was not a joint concern.
He remembered that, on the first election of Mr. Monroe, the
committee of the Senate applied to him, as Speaker of the
House, for the use of the chamber of the House; and he had told
them that he would put the chamber in order for the use of
the Senate, but the control of it he did not feel authorized to
surrender. They wished also to bring in the fine red chairs of
the Senate, but he told them it could not be done; the plain
democratic chairs of the House were more becoming. The con-
sequence was, that Mr. Monroe, instead of taking the oath within
doors, took it outside, in the open air, in front of the Capitol.
Mr. C. mentioned this for the purpose of making the inquiry,
what was the practice, and on what it was founded, and why
the Senate had the exclusive care of administering the oath.

“Mr. GRUNDY said the committee had found no authority
but several precedents, which were in strict accordance with the
proposition now proposed to be made. He did not recollect any
instance in which the House had participated in it; and, in fact,
the House, as such, had no existence, their term having expired
on the preceding day. The committee had examined three cases
of more modern date, and had found nothing in opposition to
the practice proposed. If the committee could not get into the
House, they could go out of doors.

“The resolution was adopted, and the Chair was authorized to
appoint the above-named committee of three members.”

[7]




rooms for rent. Several members of Congress lived
there.® It housed two clubs for young men. Its most
prominent tenant was Senator John C. Calhoun from
South Carolina. Formerly Secretary of War, Secretary
of State and twice Vice President, he was completing 40
years of public service. There Senator Calhoun lived,
largely alone, from 1849 until his death at the age of 68,
on Sunday, March 31, 1850. It was there that his politi-
cal opponent, but personal friend, Senator Daniel Web-
ster of Massachusetts, came to c¢heer him during his final
days.

VI. From 1861 to 1868 the site was occupied by
the Capitol Prison

After an interval, during part of which the building
was used as a public school, the site at First and A Streets,
N. L., passed into the sixth period of its career. In the
spring of 1861, the Old Brick Capitol was converted into
a Federal Military Prison. It was known as the Capitol
Prison. A high wall was built around the prison yard
on the east. The prison was used for “state prisoners”
rather than for violators of military discipline. During
its first four months only 15 prisoners were sent there.
Soon, however, arrests became so numerous that two
houses in the adjoining block to the south were used to
house the overflow. At one time, 1,004 prisoners are
said to have been crowded in. Among its notorious in-
mates were the Confederate spies, Rose Greenhow and
Belle Boyd. Captain Henry Wirz, former Commandant
of the Andersonville Confederate Military Prison, was
another. He was hanged in the prison yard November
10, 1865, and at least three others are said to have been
executed there.

VII. From about 1867 to 1921 the site again became
residential. It included the residence of
Justice Field from 1869 to 1899

In May, 1867, the Old Brick Capitol property and its
grounds were sold for $20,000 to George T. Brown, Ser-

¢ Representatives William H. Brockenborough of Florida, Reuben
Chapman of Alabama, Joseph A. Woodward of South Carolina, and
[saae E. Morse of Louisiana are among those reported to have lived
there in the 1840's.

[8]




geant-at-Arms of the Senate. With financial aid from
Senator Liyman Trumbull of Illinois, he remodeled and
converted the building into three large row houses. They
were four stories high and faced First Street on the south-
east corner of the A Street intersection. Known as
Trumbull Row, numbers 21, 23 and 25, they provided
convenient and desirable living quarters.

The most famous occupant of these houses was Justice
Stephen J. Field of the Supreme Court of the United
States. Appointed to that Court in 1863, he spent much
time on the Pacific Coast in performance of his duties as
a Circuit Justice. However, in 1870 or 1871, he estab-
lished his residence in Trumbull Row. He occupied the
house at the southerly end of the row which had been
acquired by one or more of his brothers, Cyrus, David
Dudley and Henry.” He built an addition to it and pro-
vided a large reception room on the first floor. His
library of 3,000 volumes was on the second floor. There
he followed a tireless schedule that began at seven o’clock
each morning. At the age of 82 he died there on Sunday,
April 9, 1899. This was nearly two years after he had
submitted his resignation from the Court to take effect

December 1, 1897, closing the longest term of office ever
served on that Court—34 years, 8 months and 20 days.®

VIII. From 1921 to 1928 the site was the head-
quarters of the National Woman's Party

Mrs. Alva Belmont (Mrs. Oliver Hazard Perry Bel-
mont ), having acquired the Old Brick Capitol property,
presented it to the National Woman’s Party as a perma-
nent headquarters for their crusade for equal rights for
women. Known as No. 21 First Street, N. E., it was
cherished by that organization not only as a headquarters

“Cyrus W. Field was the projector of the first Atlantic Cable.
David Dudley Field was the author of the Code of Civil Procedure
adopted by New York and followed by many western states. For
many years the four brothers met annually with Justice Field at this
house to celebrate the birthday of David Dudley Field on February 13.

S There also once stood in this block an historic home on East
Capitol Street occupied by Captain William Easby, a veteran of the
Battle of Bladensburg in 1814. It was built in 1750 by Daniel
Carroll and came into the ownership of the Easby family in about
1824,

[9]




but as an historical shrine. They embellished the
grounds with a garden. When, in 1928, this site was se-
lected for the Supreme Court Building, the National
Woman's Party opposed the selection because it meant
the removal of their historic building. The Senate
adopted a resolution favoring the retention of their build-
ing and the abandonment of the proposal to build the
Supreme Court Building there. However, Case No. 1911
in the Supreme Court of the District of Columbia re-
sulted in the condemnation of the property and an award
to the National Woman’s Party of substantially $300,000
as just compensation for the taking of it. The Party
thereupon moved to its present headquarters in the his-
toric mansion on the northwest corner of Constitution
Avenue (old B Street) and Second Street, N. E.

IX. Since 1928 the site has been set aside for
the Supreme Court of the United States

Completed in 1935 the Supreme Court Building, de-
signed by Cass Gilbert, Sr., Cass Gilbert, Jr., and John R.
Rockart, stands where First and A Streets formerly met.
The site is now known as Number One First Street,
N. E. The Supreme Court Building provides a fitting
climax. Magnificent in design, its central element re-
flects the proportions of the Parthenon of Athens. Sig-
nificant as a symbol of the independence of the judi-
ciary, it honors an historic spot. Inspirational in its
message of “Equal Justice Under Law,” it expresses in
fitting form the Faith of our Fathers.

 The parcel acquired from the National Woman’s Party was the
largest one in the site. The condemnation awards for the entire site
came to $1,768,141.
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THE DARTMOUTH COLLEGE CASE

A DRAMATIZATION
by
Harorp H. Burron
ASSOCIATE JUSTICE OF THE SUPREME
COURT OF THE UNITED STATES
for the
JupictaL. CONFERENCES OF THE THIRD AND TENTH
JupIiciAL CIRcUITS OF THE UNITED STATES
Jury 9, 1952, AT ArranTic Ciry, N. J.
and

Jury 18, 1952, AT DENVER, CoL.

The legal significance of the Dartmouth College case™®
has been amply analyzed elsewhere. This statement pre-
sents its dramatic quality. Although staged as a three-
act play its essential action is authentic. The princi-
pal characters are John Wheelock, one-time president

of Dartmouth College and Dartmouth University, Dan-
iel Webster, of counsel for the trustees of the College,
and John Marshall, Chief Justice of the Supreme Court
of the United States. The action takes place in New
Hampshire and Washington, D. C., between 1800 and
1820.

ProLOGUE
In 1800, in the office of President Wheelock of Dartmouth
College, at Hanover, N. H. President Wheelock is talking
with Daniel Webster, an 18-year-old student.

Daniel voices his appreciation of the intellectual world
the College has opened to him. He explains how his
pioneering father, Captain Ebenezer Webster, had sacri-
ficed the family’s interests to send him to Dartmouth
and how Daniel plans to help his brother follow him.

Dr. Wheelock tells how his father, Reverend Eleazar
Wheelock, about 45 years ago, had established, at his own

1 The Trustees of Dartmouth College v. Woodward, 4 Wheat. 518.




expense, and on his own estate, a charity school for the
instructions of Indians in the Christian religion, To this
end he secured funds from the Earl of Dartmouth and
other English sponsors. To perpetuate his program, he
sought a corporate charter for a college. Its trustees
were to develop the Indian Charity School independently
of the college, and Dartmouth College itself was to pro-
vide higher education for English and other youths, as
well as Indians.

December 13, 1769, Governor John Wentworth of the
Province of New Hampshire, in the name of George III,
granted the charter. It ran to The Trustees of Dart-
mouth College. It prescribed a quorum of seven, “the
whole number of said trustees consisting, and hereafter
forever to consist, of twelve, and no more . A2

It named the original 12 and authorized the trustees
thereafter to fill vacancies in their body. The trustees
were to hold title to the College properties, appoint its
president, professors, officers and other representatives,
grant 1ts degrees and govern its affairs. The charter
named Fleazar Wheelock as the “founder” of the College,
appointed him its first president and authorized him, by
his last will, to name his successor to serve unless and
until disapproved by the trustees.

The College was established on the Connecticut River
at Hanover. New Hampshire lands were granted to
it by that State and Vermont lands by the Governor
of Vermont. President Eleazar Wheelock died in 1779.

24 Wheat. 525.

The trustees were given wide authority to make rules—
“not repugnant to the laws and statutes of our realm of Great
Sritain, or of this our province of New-Hampshire, and not excluding
any person of any religious denomination whatsoever, from free and
equal liberty and advantage of education, or from any of the liberties
and privileges or immunities of the said college, on account of his or
their speculative sentiments in religion, and of his or their being of
religious profession different from the said trustees . . . .” Id., at

"€
1>
2O,

a
O¢
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By his will he had named as his successor his son, Lieu-
tenant Colonel John Wheelock, who at once gave up his
Army career to devote himself to the College.

In 1800 the students number nearly 150 and Dartmouth
1s the only institution of higher education in New
Hampshire. Daniel catches the spirit of the dauntless
founder of this College in the forest, dedicated to the
intellectual and spiritual advancement of mankind for-
ever. He expresses the hope that some day he may repay
a part of his personal debt to Dartmouth,

Acr I—The Issue is Created

ScenE 1
The Trustees Act

August 26, 1815, in a meeting of the trustees of Dart-
mouth College, at Hanover, N. H.

President John Wheelock refers to the steady increase
of his disagreements with the trustees since 1809. Led
by United States Senator Thomas W. Thompson,® they
in turn charge him with starting a bitter war of pamphlets
by making false charges against them and attacking their
authority to guide the corporate policy of the College.
They protest his having memorialized the Legislature to
investigate the trustees’ conduct of the College. He re-
plies that he has gone further and already has appeared
before the Legislative Committee.* Some trustees urge

% A trustee from 1802 to 1817, graduate of Harvard, gentleman and
lawyer of the old school, rich and courtly, a patron of Daniel Webster,
and United States Senator from New Hampshire 1814-1817. Shirley,
The Dartmouth College Causes (1879) 81, 83-84; Biographical Di-
rectory of the American Congress (1950) 1915.

*A misunderstanding between Wheelock and Webster arose in
this connection. In the spring of 1815, Wheelock, contemplating
personal litigation against the College for money due him and on
other grounds, had suggested to Webster that he might wish to retain
his professional services. Webster had indicated his willingness to
serve him. On August 5, when Wheelock learned that legislative

[3]




patience but the majority cannot be restrained. Accus-
ing Wheelock of disrupting the College, they remove him
from office as president and trustee. Two protest.’

SCENE 2

The Legislature Acts

June 26, 1816, in a cloakroom of the New Hampshire

House of Representatives at Concord, N. H. The busi-

ness before the House 1s a bill “to amend the charter,

and enlarge and improve the Corporation of Dartmouth
College.”

The conversation discloses that in March, 1816, the
Anti-Federalists had elected William Plumer as Governor.
June 6, in his message to the Legislature, he had urged
that the College charter be amended, especially so as to
terminate the authority of the trustees to mame their
successors and so as to require its president to report
annually to the Governor upon the state of the College.®

hearings as to the College would begin August 16, he wrote to Web-
ster urgently requesting the latter’s appearance with him at the
hearings. Webster received the letter too late to attend the hearings
and Wheelock had to proceed alone. Webster also explained, later,
that court engagements would have prevented his attendance in any
event, and that he had not regarded this request as a professional
call. Furthermore, he was not convinced that Wheelock was wholly
richt on the issues before the Committee and he had no inclination to
espouse either side of the College controversy, except in proceedings
in which his services were “professional.” Shirley, 86-92; Farrar,
Dartmouth College Case (1819), 379-380, 390-391.

® Those protesting were Governor Gilman of New Hampshire and
Judge Stephen Jacob of Vermont. Two days later the trustees
elected Reverend Francis Brown, of Maine, president of the College.
Accepting the office at 31, he served with “rare tact and administra-
tive genius,” but died July 27, 1820, after steering the College suc-
cessfully through its greatest crisis. Shirley, 100-101. Most of New
Hampshire and much of New England had taken sides. Orthodox
Congregationalists and Federalists generally had supported the
trustees. The other denominations and Anti-Federalists generally
had supported Wheelock.

6 Shirley, 106.
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The bill before the House includes amendments to
the College charter (1) changing its name to Dartmouth
" University; (2) increasing its trustees from 12 to 21
and its quorum from seven to 11; (3) adding a Board
of Overseers of 25 members, with a quorum of 15:
(4) authorizing all original and subsequent vacancies
among trustees and overseers to be filled with appointees
of the Governor and Council, except that the President
of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Represen-
tatives of New Hampshire, and the Governor and Lieu-
tenant Governor of Vermont, shall be overseers ez-officio ;
(5) the president and professors of the College shall be
nominated by the trustees and approved by the over-
seers; (6) the overseers may disapprove any action of
the trustees provided they do so within 60 days after
receipt of copies of the action; and (7) the president shall
render an annual report to the Governor.”

The bill is ably debated. Written remonstrances from
United States Senator and College Trustee Thomas W.
Thompson and others are before the body.* The point is
clearly made that this College was founded and endowed

by private individuals, rather than by the King or the
Government and that, if this property has been misap-
plied by its trustees, it is for the judiciary and not for the
Legislature to determine that issue. Nevertheless, the
bill passes by a small majority.®

“See 4 Wheat. 539-544; Farrar, 18-22, for the Act in full.

® His remonstrances of June 19 and 24, 1816, charge that the Leg-
islature is about to take action without considering the report of
the Legislature’s own Fact Finding Committee. He warns that the
“tendency of this bill . . . is to convert the peaceful retreat of our
college into a field for party warfare.” See Farrar, 385-391; Smith,
Dartmouth College (1878), 101-106.

°In the Senate a proposal to make the amendment subject to
approval by the trustees was defeated. The bill was approved by the
Governor June 27, 1816. Seventy-five of the 190 members of the
House recorded their protest in the journal, declaring that the
charter was a contract and that the trustees could not lawfully be
deprived of their rights under it in the face of the federal constitu-
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SCENE 3
The College Carries On
February 28, 1817, in Rowley Hall, Hanover, N. H.,

President Brown of the College 1s meeting with Professors
Ebenezer Adams and Roswell Shurtleff.

Brown reports that under the reduced quorum amend-
ment of December 18, the University trustees voted to
remove him as president and to reinstate John Wheelock,
with William Allen as acting president due to Wheelock’s
ill health.” Brown further reports that the University
boards have elected, as secretary and treasurer, William
H. Woodward, who had been the College secretary; have
placed the corporate records and seal of the College in
Woodward’s possession; have removed four trustees and
all members of the faculty who adhered to the old board;
and have ousted the officers and faculty from the College
buildings. The ousted trustees, officers, faculty and their
students have moved to nearby Rowley Hall. There
they carry on their educational program. Scarcely any

students attend the newly constituted and competing
University.

tional provision against the impairment of the obligation of con-
tracts. Shirley, 109-110; Farrar, 381, 389-390.

The Governor and the Council at once named appointees to fill
all of the newly created positions. Meetings of the University
boards were called for August 26, 1816. Only ten of the trustees
and 14 of the overseers were present. The attendance thus fell
one member short of a quorum on each board. August 28, nine of
the 12 previously constituted College trustees declared that the
amendment was unlawful and that they felt obliged to refuse to act
under it. Farrar, 379-384.

December 18, 1816, the Legislature passed a supplementary Act
permitting adjournments by less than a quorum of each board,
reducing the trustees’ quorum to nine, with the concurrence of six
trustees necessary to take action. A third Act, approved December
26, preseribed a $500 penalty for hindering officers acting under the
amendments. 4 Wheat. 545-549; Farrar, 23-26.

10 Wheelock died April 11, 1817, leaving $40,000 by will to the
University.
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The College has sought the legal advice of Senator
Jeremiah Mason,” Judge Jeremiah Smith ** and Repre-
sentative Daniel Webster.”® HEach has high standing at
the bar and in public life. February 8, 1817, at their
suggestion, a test case already has been filed in the Com-
mon Pleas Court of Grafton County, New Hampshire,
against William H. Woodward attacking his right to the
possession of the College records, seal and other corporate
property. Upon an agreed statement of facts the case
1s pending in the Superior Court of Judicature of New
Hampshire, which is the State’s highest tribunal.*

Brown, Adams and Shurtleff sign “An Address of the
Executive Officers of Dartmouth College to the Publick.”

1 An impressive figure, 6 feet 7 inches tall, he was as large in mind
as he was in body. A Federalist, he had served as Attorney General
of the State 1802-1805, as United States Senator 1813-1817 when
he resigned. He had declined appointment by Governor Plumer as
Chief Justice of the Superior Court of New Hampshire in August,
1816.

12 A Federalist, he served in Congress 1791-1797, as United States
District Attorney 1797-1800; Judge of Probate 1800-1802; United
States Circuit Judge 1801-1802; Chief Justice of the Superior Court
of New Hampshire 1802-1809; Governor 1809-1810; and Chief Jus-
tice of the then styled Supreme Court of New Hampshire 1813—
1816.

13 Webster was 35 and on the threshold of his professional and
political career. A Federalist, he had served in Congress as a Repre-
sentative from New Hampshire March 4, 1813—-March 3, 1817. He
then moved to Boston and was in active practice there throughout
the Dartmouth College case. By 1820 he was active in Massachusetts
politics. He was a Presidential-elector on the Monroe and Tompkins’
ticket in 1820. Later he served as a Federalist Representative from
Massachusetts 1823-1827; United States Senator 1827-1841; Secre-
tary of State 1841-1843; a Whig United States Senator 1845-1850;
and Secretary of State 1850-1852.

14Tt was stipulated that “if either party should desire it, the state-
ment of facts should be turned into a special verdict, in order that
the case might be carried to the supreme court of the United States
upon a writ of error.” 1 N. H. 111.

An apocryphal story of this period concerns a plan to strengthen
the College’s case by bringing from Canada some young Indian
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It states their case. Believing in the righteousness of
their cause and its importance to the College and to others
in like situations, they firmly resolve to accept the risk
of prosecution and to ‘“continue to instruct the classes
committed to them . . . until the decision of the law
shall convinee them of their error, or restore them to their
rightg. i

Act II—The State Court Decide

November 6, 1817. In the Courtroom of the Superior
Court of Judicature of New Hampshire, at Plymouth,
Grafton County, N. H. On the bench: Chief Justice
William M. Richardson,’® Justice Samuel Bell” and
Justice Levi Woodbury® Among those at the bar
are former Senator Mason, Judge Smith and former

students. All went well until the Indians, while crossing the river,
saw the stone buildings. At once they dove into the river and fled
back North, fearing that they were being taken to prison. IV Bev-
eridge, The Life of John Marshall (1919), 233 note.

15 Shirley, 137-140; Smith, Dartmouth Collece (1878), 108-112.

16 As a Federalist, he served in Congress from Massachusetts 1811—
1814 ; he was United States Attorney 1814; and Chief Justice of the
Superior or Supreme Court of New Hampshire 1816-1838.

“He had served as a trustee 1808-1811. An Anti-Federalist,
he was a member of the New Hampshire State House of Rep-
resentatives 1804-1807 ; Speaker 1805-1807; State Senator and Presi-
dent of the Senate 1807-1809; State Councilor 1809-1810; Justice
of the Superior Court 1816-1819; Governor 1819-1823; and United
States Senator 1823-1835.

18 A doubt has been suggested as to whether Justice Woodbury sat
in this case. He had been appointed one of the new trustees of the
University in July, 1816, and had attended their meeting of August
26. Later he was appointed a Justice of the Superior Court Decem-
ber 9, 1816, at the age of 28, and took his seat at the February Term,
1817. From 65 N. H. 472, 624, and Farrar’s Report of the Dartmouth
College Case at pages 28, 206, it appears that “all the judges” were
present at the September and November, 1817, Terms. In 1 N. H.
111, there is no express statement as to who participated. However,
the local docket for the May and November Terms, 1817, carries a
note stating that Justice Woodbury “does not sit” in this case. Shir-
ley, 112, 150-151. Justice Woodbury served on the Superior Court
until 1819. An Anti-Federalist, he served later as Governor 1823—
1824 State Representative and Speaker 1825; United States Senator
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Yepresentative Webster as counsel for the trustees.®
Attorney General George Sullivan?® and Ichabod Bart-
lett 22 are present as counsel for the opposition.

The Chief Justice announces the unanimous opinion
of the court in The Trustees of Dartmouth College v.
Woodward.*

The court faces squarely the contention of the trustees
that the Amendatory Acts exceed the legislative powers
of the Legislature and violate the Constitutions of New
Hampshire and the United States. It sustains the legis-
lation at every point. It holds the corporation to be a
public corporation subject to this kind of control in the
public interest. In view of the proceedings to come, the
following quotations are especially significant:

“The office of trustee of Dartmouth College is, in
fact, a publick trust, as much so as the office of gov-
ernor, or of judge of this court;

1825-1831; Secretary of the Navy 1831-1834; Secretary of the
Treasury 1834-1841; United States Senator 1841-1845; and Associate
Justice of the Supreme Court of the United States 1845-1851.

19 The first two had argued the case for the trustees at the May
Term, 1817, in Grafton County with Sullivan in opposition. All
three had argued for the trustees at the September Term, 1817, at
Exeter in Rockingham County, with Sullivan and Bartlett in opposi-
tion. With the exception of Webster’s, the substance of each of
these arguments at Exeter is reported in Farrar, 28-206. The argu-
ments appear also in 65 N. H. 473-624, together with Farrar’s report
of Webster’s final argument in the Supreme Court of the United
States. See Farrar, 238-283.

20 He served as a State Representative in New Hampshire 1805;
State Attorney General 1805-1806; in Congress 1811-1813; State
Representative and Senator 1813-1815; and State Attorney General
1816-1835.

L He served as Clerk of the State Senate 1817-1818; a member
of the State House of Representatives 1819-1821; and Speaker in
1821. He served as an “Anti-Democrat” in Congress 1823-1829,
declined appointment as Chief Justice of the Court of Common
Pleas in 1825 and served again in the State House of Representatives
1830, 1838, 1851 and 1852,

*21 N. H. 111-138. Reprinted with the addition of arguments of
counsel, 65 N. H. 473-643. See also, Farrar, 28-237.
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“It becomes then unnecessary to decide in this
case, how far the legislature possesses a constitu-
tional right to interfere in the concerns of private
corporations. . .

“These [amendatory] acts compel the old trustees to
sacrifice no private interest whatever, but merely to
admit others to aid them, in the management of the
concerns of a publick institution:

“If the charter of a publick institution, like that of
Dartmouth College, is to be construed as a con-
tract, within the intent of the constitution of the
United States, it will, in our opinion, be difficult to
say what powers, in relation to their publick institu-
tions, if any, are left to the states. It is a construc-
tion, in our view, repugnant to the very principles
of all government, because it places all the publick
institutions of all the states beyond legislative con-

troul. . . . We are therefore clearly of opinion, that
the charter of Dartmouth College is not a contract,
within the meaning of this clause in the constitution
of the United States.” 1 N. H. 119-120, 128, 133-
134; 656 N. H. 630-631, 636-637, 640.

1 III—In the Supreme Court of the United States
SCENE 1
Webster’'s Argument

March 10, 1818, 11 a. m. In the temporary courtroom of
the Supreme Court of the United States—a plain commit-
tee room in the partially restored Capitol, in Washington,
D. C. Webster and Joseph Hopkinson are ready to pro-
ceed for the trustees in the Dartmouth College case.2?

*# A Federalist, Hopkinson was widely known as the author of
“Hail Columbia,” written in 1798. He also had a distinguished
record at the bar, including his able representation of Justice Samuel
Chase in the latter’s impeachment trial before the Senate in 1804
and 1805. He served in Congress 1815-1819. From 1828-1842 he
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lepresentative John Holmes?* and Attorney General
William Wirt 5 oppose them.

The Court is announced by the crier.”® All its members
are present—Chief Justice Marshall and Justice Wash-
ington, both from Virginia and appointees of President
Adams, Justices William Johnson of South Carolina,
Livingston of New York and Todd of Kentucky, ap-
pointees of President Jefferson, and Justices Duvall of
Maryland and Story of Massachusetts, appointees of
President Madison.

There are no printed or written briefs in the hands of the
Court. The caseis called and Webster rises. It ishis first
major case before the Supreme Court. Justice Story takes
up his pen to make his customary full notes but becomes

was to be a United States District Judge for the Eastern District
of Pennsylvania, and in 1837 Chairman of Pennsylvania’s Constitu-
tional Convention.

*t He had been a Federalist member of the Massachusetts House of
Representatives 1802-1803, then an Anti-Federalist member of the
State Senate 1813-1814, and United States Representative 1817—
1820. Later he was to serve as United States Senator from Maine
1820-1827, 1829-1833. Still later he was to be a State Representa-
tive 1835-1838, and United States Attorney 1841-1843.

% He was widely known as an author, attorney and orator, who had
gained especial fame through his part in the prosecution of Aaron
Jurr for treason. He had served in the Virginia House of Delegates
and in 1816 as United States Attorney. From November, 1817, to
1829, he was Attorney General of the United States. January 31,
1818, he had written to a friend: “I have been up till midnight, at
work, every night, and still have my hands full. . . . The Supreme
Court is approaching. It will half kill you to hear that it will find
me unprepared; but I shall contrive ways and means to keep my pro-
fessional head, at least, above water.” Shirley, 234.

% “The Honorable, the Chief Justice, and the Associate Justices
of the Supreme Court of the United States. Oyez, Oyez, Oyez!
All persons having business before the Honorable, the Supreme Court
of the United States, are admonished to draw near and give their
attention for the Court is now sitting. God save the United States
and this Honorable Court.” The foregoing is the announcement
now used. The date of its origin is uncertain, See also, 2 Warren,
The Supreme Court in United States History (rev. ed. 1937), 468—
469; Smith, Early Indiana Trials (1858), 137.
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so absorbed in the argument that his pen remains poised
and he takes no notes.”

Although stating that the sole issue before this Court
1s the violation of Article I, § 10, of the Federal Constitu-
tion,” Webster builds a background for the meaning of
its language. In doing so, he summarizes the arguments
made by Mason and Smith in the State court knowing
also that those arguments may later come squarely before
this Court through new test cases. He argues that the
charter amendments are beyond the proper scope of legis-
lative power. He cites Fletcher v. Peck ® to show that
a state contract contains obligations protected by the
Contract Clause and New Jersey v. Wilson * to the effect
that the obligations of a contract made by the King
before the Revolution are as much entitled to protection
as those made by a state thereafter. He demonstrates
that The Trustees of Dartmouth College constitute a pri-
vate eleemosynary corporation rather than a public cor-
poration and argues that a state legislature which cannot
repeal its grant of such a private corporate charter like-
wise cannot impair or essentially alter that charter with-
out the assent of the corporation.®

At that point, tradition has it, Webster completed his
three-hour legal argument and addressed a famous emo-
tional peroration to the Chief Justice. The best authen-
ticated version of it is as follows:

*"See statement of Professor Chauncey A. Goodrich, of Yale, who
was present at the argument, XV Writings and Speeches of Daniel
Webster (1903) 10-13; I Fuess, Daniel Webster (1930), 230-232.
Justice Story is quoted as having said later: “For the first hour, we
listened to him with perfect astonishment; for the second hour, with
perfect delight; for the third hour, with perfect conviction.” Wilson,
Daniel Webster and Dartmouth, IIT The Colophon (1938) 10-11.

* “Section. 10. No State shall . . . pass any Bill of Attainder,
ex post facto Law, or Law impairing the Obligation of Contraets, or-
grant any Title of Nobility.”

296 Cranch 87.

307 Cranch 164.

3 Citing Terrett v. Taylor, 9 Cranch 43, 51-52.
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“‘Thas, sir, is my case! It is the case, not merely
of that humble institution, it is the case of every
college in our land. It is more. It is the case of
every eleemosynary institution throughout our coun-
try,—of all those great charities founded by the piety
of our ancestors to alleviate human misery, and
scatter blessings along the pathway of life. It is
more! It is, in some sense, the case of every man
among us who has property of which he may be
stripped; for the question is simply this: Shall our
State Legislatures be allowed to take that which is
not their own, to turn it from its original use, and
apply 1t to such ends or purposes as they, in their
discretion, shall see fit!

“‘Sir, you may destroy this little institution; it is
weak; it is in your hands! I know it is one of the
lesser lights in the literary horizon of our country.
You may put it out. But if you do so, you must
carry through your work! You must extinguish, one
after another, all those great lights of science which,
for more than a century, have thrown their radiance
over our land!

“ ‘It is, sir, as T have said, a small college. ‘And yet
there are those who love it—'

“Here the feelings which he had thus far suc-
ceeded in keeping down broke forth. His lips quiv-
ered; his firm cheeks trembled with emotion; his
eyes were filled with tears, his voice choked, and he
seemed struggling to the utmost simply to gain that
mastery over himself which might save him from
an unmanly burst of feeling. ... [In a] few
broken words of tenderness . . . he went on to speak
of his attachment to the college. The whole seemed
to be mingled throughout with the recollections of
father, mother, brother, and all the trials and priva-
tions through which he had made his way into life.
Every one saw that it was wholly unpremeditated, a
pressure on his heart, which sought relief in words:
and tears.
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“The court-room during these two or three minutes
presented an extraordinary spectacle. Chief Justice
Marshall, with his tall and gaunt figure bent over as
if to catech the slightest whisper, the deep furrows
of his cheek expanded with emotion, and eyes suf-
fused with tears; Mr. Justice Washington at his
side,—with his small and emaciated frame, and coun-
tenance . . . like marble . . . leaning forward with
an eager, troubled look; and the remainder of the
court, at the two extremities, pressing, as it were, to-
ward a single point, while the audience below were
wrapping themselves round in closer folds beneath
the bench to catch each look, and every movement of
the speaker’s face. If a painter could give us the
scene on canvas,—those forms and countenances,
and Daniel Webster as he then stood in the midst,
it would be one of the most touching pictures in the
history of eloquence. . . . the pathetic depends not
merely on the words uttered, but still more on the
estimate we put upon him who utters them. There
vas not one among the strong-minded men of that
assembly who could think it unmanly to weep, when
he saw standing before him the man who had made
such an argument, melted into the tenderness of a
child.

“Mr. Webster had now recovered his composure,
and fixing his keen eye on the Chief Justice, said, in
that deep tone with which he sometimes thrilled the
hearts of an audience,—

“ Sir, I know not how others may feel’ (glancing
at the opponents of the college before him), ‘but, for
myself, when I see my Alma Mater surrounded, like
Caesar in the senate-house, by those who are reiter-
ating stab upon stab, I would not, for this right hand,
have her turn to me, and say, Et tu quoque, mu fili!
And thow too, my son!’

“He sat down. There was a deathlike stillness
throughout the room for some moments;

; every one
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seemed to be slowly recovering himself, and coming
gradually back to his ordinary range of thought and
fCChl]g.” 32 33

SCENE 2

Pending the Decision

September, 1818, in Rowley Hall, Hanover, N. H. Presi-
dent Brown and Daniel Webster are in consultation

President Brown asks Webster about the argument
in Washington. Webster sketches the course of the
three-day hearing. In his own opening he had combined
Mason’s and Smith’s arguments in the State court with
his and had concluded with a “Caesar in the Senate-
House” peroration somewhat as he had done at Exeter
in 1817.

The University trustees had thought it a needless
expense to send to Washington Sullivan and Bartlett, who
had so ably represented them in New Hampshire. In
their stead, Representative Holmes, of the District of
Maine, had spoken three hours in reply to Webster. His
presentation was more of a stump speech than a legal

argument. In the midst of it, Justice Bell of New Hamp-
shire, who was in the audience, seized his hat and dashed
out of the courtroom. The newly installed Attorney Gen-

% There is no stenographic or official report of this peroration.
The above version came, unsolicited, to Senator Rufus Choate of
Massachusetts, from Chauncey A. Goodrich, Professor of Rhetoric
and Oratory at Yale, who, 34 years before, at the age of 28, had
gone to Washington especially to hear the case argued. This ver-
sion reached Senator Choate in time for inclusion in his eulogy
of Webster at Dartmouth College July 27, 1853, whence its fame.
XV Writings and Speeches of Daniel Webster (1903) 11-13. See
also, Wilson, Daniel Webster and Dartmouth, IIT The Colophon
(1938) 7-23. Webster came to regard his argument in this case as
the “greatest effort” of his career. I Fuess, Daniel Webster (1930),
245.

% In about 1830, Justice Story set down his impression of the
same scene. It is on file in manuseript form in the Library of
Congress and is published in Wheeler, Daniel Webster, The Ex-
pounder of the Constitution (1905), 29-32.
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eral Wirt closed for the University. Although an elo-
quent speaker and a competent lawyer, he had argued six
cases in the Supreme Court between February 2 and
March 11, and had not had the time needed to study this
case. For example, he had built part of his argument on
the theory that the King, rather than Eleazar Wheelock
who had originated the school, taught in it and raised the
funds for it, was its founder. When it was pointed out to
him that the charter itself named Wheelock as the
founder, Wirt shifted his ground and asked that he be
allowed to resume his argument the next day. Wirt also
had inserted an emotional touch in his peroration when he
sought to turn back on Webster the latter’s reference to
Caesar. HKvidently referring to the late President Whee-
lock’s disappointment when Webster had failed to appear
with him before a Legislative Committee in 1816, Wirt
summoned up the ghost of John Wheelock to point his
finger at Webster and to quote, in closing, Caesar’s famous
ejaculation “KEt tu, Brute?”’ **

In contrast to the inadequacy of the arguments for
the University, Joseph Hopkinson closed for the College
trustees with an admirable summary showing an under-
standing of every part of the case.

The next day, the Chief Justice announced that the
Justices had conferred on the case, that some had not
come to an opinion on it, that those who had opinions
did not agree and the cause must therefore be continued
until the next term.*

Webster had written to Judge Smith that “The chief
and Washington, I have no doubt, are with us. Duvall
and Todd perhaps against us; the other three holding up.
I cannot much doubt but that Story will be with us in the
end, and I think we have much more than an even chance
for one of the others.” *

% Wilson, Daniel Webster and Dartmouth, III The Colophon
(1938) 20-22.

% From the National Intelligencer, quoted in Shirley, 238.

86 Shirley, 238-239.
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Webster recognizes that the New Hampshire Court’s
opinion is “able, ingenious, and plausible” and is receiv-
ing wide circulation in printed form. To offset this, he
has sent to Justice Story five copies of a privately printed
edition of his own argument.*

Brown advises Webster that Chancellor James Kent
of the New York Court of Chancery has read the New
Hampshire decision and has indicated an inclination
to agree with it. He fears that Kent’s view may reach
Justices Livingston or Johnson, who occasionally confer
with the Chancellor on legal questions of the day. To
offset this, Webster agrees that Brown should visit the
Chancellor at Albany and leave with him the College’s
printed arguments.

Webster reports also that three new test suits have been
filed on behalf of the College. These are actions in eject-
ment filed in the Federal Circuit Court because of diver-
sity of citizenship, all with the purpose of broadening the
scope of review by the Supreme Court of the United
States in the event that the College loses on the consti-
tutional issue now under advisement.

Finally they discuss the report that the University is
retaining William Pinkney, a leader of the Maryland
bar* to seek a rehearing of the case in the Supreme
Court.

% Referring to these copies, Webster had written to Justice Story
“If you send one of them to each of the five judges as you think
proper, you will of course do it in a manner least likely to lead to a
feeling that any indecorum has been committed by the plaintiffs.”
Wilson, Daniel Webster and Dartmouth, IIT The Colophon (1938)
13 note; IV Beveridge, The Life of John Marshall (1919), 257; T
Private Correspondence of Webster 287.

* An Anti-Federalist, Pinkney had served in Congress in 1791,
as Attorney General of Maryland 1805; as Commissioner to London
under Jay’s Treaty 1796-1804; as Joint Minister to Great Britain
with James Monroe 1806-1807; as Minister Plenipotentiary 1807—
1811; as Attorney General of the United States 1811-1814: in Con-
gress 1815-1816; and Minister Plenipotentiary to Russia 1816-1818.
Later he was to serve as United States Senator December 1819-1822..
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SCENE 3
The Final Decision
February 2, 1819, 10:55 a. m. In the newly decorated
Supreme Court Chamber in the Capitol at Washington.
It is the second day of the term. Many lawyers and
spectators, including Webster, Hopkinson and Pinkney,
are assembled.

Webster and Hopkinson express to each other the hope
that the Dartmouth College decision will come down.
Pinkney stands close to the bench with a view to catching
the eye of the Chief Justice in order to move for a rehear-
g in the College case. At 11 the Court is announced
and enters. All members are present except Justice
Todd. Mr. Pinkney steps forward to address the Court.
The Chief Justice looks the other way and announces
that the Court has reached a decision in Case No. 25, The
Trustees of Dartmouth College v. William Woodward.
His opinion covers about 30 pages. He cites no cases
but demonstrates his propositions with characteristic

clearness. Obviously the decision is a landmark. Among
its principal points are the following:

“. .. On the judges of this Court . . . is imposed
the high and solemn duty of protecting, from even
legislative violation, those contracts which the con-
stitution of our country has placed beyond legislative
control; and, however irksome the task may be, this
1s a duty from which we dare not shrink.

“It becomes then the duty of the Court most seri-
ously to examine this charter, and to ascertain its
true character.

“From this review of the charter, it appears, that
Dartmouth College is an eleemosynary institution,
mncorporated for the purpose of perpetuating the
application of the bounty of the donors, to the speci-
fied objects of that bounty; that its trustees or gov-
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ernors were originally named by the founder, and
invested with the power of perpetuating themselves;
that they are not public officers, nor is it a eivil insti-
tution, participating in the administration of gov-
ernment; but a charity school, or a seminary of
education, incorporated for the preservation of its
property, and the perpetual application of that
property to the objects of its creation.

“This is plainly a contract to which the donors,
the trustees, and the crown, (to whose rights and
obligations New-Hampshire succeeds,) were the
original parties. It is a contract made on a valuable
consideration. It is a contract for the security and
disposition of property. It isa contract, on the faith
of which, real and personal estate has been conveyed
to the corporation. It is then a contract within the
letter of the constitution, and within its spirit also,
unless the fact, that the property is invested by the
donors in trustees for the promotion of religion and
education, for the benefit of persons who are per-
petually changing, though the objects remain the
same, shall create a particular exception, taking this
case out of the prohibition contained in this con-
stitution.

4

‘. . . It is not enough to say, that this particular
case was not in the mind of the Convention, when
the article was framed, nor of the American people,
when it was adopted. It is necessary to go farther,
and to say that, had this particular case been sug-
gested, the language would have been so varied, as
to exclude it, or it would have been made a special
exception. .

“The opinion of the Court, after mature delibera-
tion, 1s, that this is a contract, the obligation of which

[19]




cannot be impaired, without violating the constitu-
tion of the United States.

“. . . We next proceed to the inquiry, whether its
obligation has been impaired by those acts of the
legislature of New-Hampshire, to which the special
verdict refers.

“By the revolution, the duties, as well as the
powers, of government devolved on the people of
New-Hampshire. It is admitted, that among the
latter was comprehended the transcendent power of
parliament, as well as that of the executive depart-
ment . . .. But the constitution of the United
States has imposed this additional limitation, that
the legislature of a State shall pass no act impairing
the obligation of contracts.’

. . .

¢

‘. . . The whole power of governing the college is
transferred [by the amendments] from trustees ap-
pointed according to the will of the founder, ex-
pressed in the charter, to the executive of New-
Hampshire. . . . The will of the State is substi-
tuted for the will of the donors, in every essential
operation of the college. This is not an immaterial
change. . . . The charter of 1769 exists no longer.
It is reorganized; and reorganized in such a manner,
as to convert a literary institution, moulded accord-
ing to the will of its founders, and placed under the
control of private literary men, into a machine en-
tirely subservient to the will of government. This
may be for the advantage of this college in partic-
ular, and may be for the advantage of literature in
general; but it is not according to the will of the
donors, and is subversive of that contract, on the
faith of which their property was given.

. . . .

“It results from this opinion, that the acts of the
legislature of New-Hampshire . . . are repugnant to.
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the constitution of the United States; and that the
judgment of this special verdict ought to have been
for the plaintiffs. The judgment of the State Court
must, therefore, be reversed.” 4 Wheat. 625, 630
631, 640-641, 643-644, 650, 651653, 654,

No other opinions are read.®® Justice Duvall notes his
dissent. No mention is made of Justice Todd. The case
1s closed. The Dartmouth College charter of 1769 is a
contract forever binding upon both the trustees and the

State.®
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Justice and Mrs, Hareld H, Burten
Tentative Sehedule for 1953 Vacation

Saturday -~ Noon

Monday

Monday and Tuesday

Wednesday, 11:30 a.m,
7225 pam,

Thersday, 10:00
Friday 11:k5

L2 kO
Saturday
Sunday 9130

Lishs
Monday
Tuesday 8:30

7:50

Wednesday
Thursday 8:30

10:10
Friday
Saturday
Sunday
Monday 1:50 pom,

3350 Pels
Tuesday
Wednesday
Thursday 10350 a,m,
2:10 pom,

(June 23, 1953)

Sail from Hoboken on MV "Noordam" —~ Hollande
America Line

At sea

Arrive Rotterdam, Netherlands

The Hague

[eave Amsterdam (plane) (change at Copenhagen)

Arrive Stavanger, Norway =~ Hotel Atlantic
(Norway §Eb§en & Denmark with Bennett Travel
Bureau

Leave Stavanger (steamer and motorcoach) (Champe
at Haugesund)

Arrive Solfonn, Norway « Solfonn Hotel

Leave Solfonn (motorcoach and ferry) (change
at 6dda and Brimmnes)

Arrive Ulvik « Brakanes Hotel

Ulvik

Leave Ulvik (molerceach) (Changes at Granvin
and Nerheimsund)

Arrive Bergen — Hotel Norge

Bergen

Leave Bergen (railroad)

Arrive Oslo « Grand Hotel

0slo

Leave Osle (plane)

Arrive Stockholm, Sweden - Carlton Hetel

Steckholm

Stockholm

Stockholm

Leave Stockholm (plane)

Arrive Copenhagen, Denmark - Hotel DfAngleterre

Copenhagen

Copenhagen

Leave Copenhagen (plane)

Arrive Zurich, Switzerland =~ Baurwau=Lac Hotel

(Reservations to be confirmed in Switzerland and France)

Friday 9227 aom,
1lsll a.m,
Saturday  8:47 a.m,
11131 a,m,
Sunday 10:05 a.m,
2:15 pem,
Monday
Tueaday
Wednesday 8:L0 a.m,
8!57 Pelp
Thursday 1157 pem,
b:li2 pom,

to Wednesday

13=19 Thursday

Leave Zurich (train)

Arrive Bern - Hotel Bellevue~Palace
Leave Bern (train) ]

Arrive Leysin = Hotel La Mesange
Leave Leysin (train)

Arrive Chamonix, France = Hotel Les Alpes
Chamonix

Chamonix

Leave Chamonix (train)

Arrive Glarus -~ Hotel Glarnerhof
Leave (larus

Arrive Klosters - Hotel Vereina
Klosters




Thursday 9:152 a.m,
912‘139 Poliy

T:h6 pem,

Friday 10225 a.m,

Saturday

Monday

- 2w

Leave Klosters (train)

Arrive Zurich

Leave Zurich (change at Basel) (night train)
Arrive Rotterdam, Netherlands = Hotel Atlamta
Rotterdam

Sail from Rotterdam on MV "Neoordam!

At sea

Arrive Hobeken
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Two YEARS AGO my son, who was then 13, pmudl\ announced one
day: “I was the only one in our class that got oo in the Social Living
test.”’

“That’s fine,” I said. “Were the questions hard?”

“Well, the only one I didn’t know the answer to was ‘What is the
salary of the Chief Justice of the United States?” but I figured it out.

[ knew that Ted Williams got $100,000 a year from the Red Sox, and
[ decided that a Chief ]us[m would pluml ly get about a fourth as

much. So 1 put down $25,000, and 1t was n“ht
Contributed by Ruth Whetstine
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THE KEYSTONE OF OUR
AN INDEPENDENT JUDIC
By Haroup H. Burrox

ASSOCIATE JUSTICE OF THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE

OF TT

ArranTIic City, N. J—JuLry 7, 1953

When young people ask me what the Supreme Court
is for, I tell them about a boy who asked me why we
had so many courts in Cleveland. In return, I asked

him if he played baseball. When he replied, “Of course,”
[ asked him if he used an umpire when he played. To
that question, he gave me an answer full of wisdom. He
said, “Well, when we want to last a full nine inning game,
then we have an umpire.” He knew that boys can play a
short scrub game without an umpire, but he knew also
that if they are to play a long, hard game and not end in a
fight, they need an umpire. They do not expect him to
be perfect. They expect him to know the rules, to be
honest, to apply the rules promptly and, above all, to be
independent.

The same is true of life in general. The courts are the
umpires. The laws are the rules. In our Federal Gov-
ernment, our independent judiciary is the keystone that
holds in place the other members of the governmental
arch which our Constitution has designed to sustain a
representative republic, dedicated to the preservation for
the individual of the greatest freedom consistent with like
freedom for others. With its keystone, an arch has
extraordinary strength. Without it, it collapses.

How to secure an independent judiciary? How to as-
sure its continuing independence? The architects of our
Constitution solved those major problems by providing
that—




1. Federal judges shall be appointed by the Presi-
dent “with the Advice and Consent of the Senate.”
Art. II, § 2. They “shall hold their Offices during
good Behaviour, and shall, at stated Times, receive
for their Services, a Compensation, which shall not
be diminished during their Continuance in Office.”
Art. III, §1. Those provisions reflected lessons
learned in the long struggle to free British judges
from the domination of their King.*

2. All civil officers, including judges, “shall be re-
moved from Office on Impeachment for, and Con-
viction of, Treason, Bribery, or other high Crimes
and Misdemeanors.” Art. IT, §4. While this pro-
vision was primarily for the protection of the public
against the abuse of judicial power, one omission
was made from the British procedure and a limitation
was inserted in the impeachment procedure to pro-
tect the judges against their arbitrary removal from
office.

The Constitutional Convention thus omitted a pro-
posed provision to give the President a power of removal

comparable to that of the British Crown to remove judges

upon a joint address of the Houses of Parliament.
son’s notes tell the story of that omission as follows:

! Originally, the King commissioned his judges to serve during his
pleasure—“durante bene placito.” By the statute of 12 and 13
W.III, c. 2 (1700), it was provided that the tenure of judges be during
their good behavior—“Quamdiu se bene gesserint, and their Sal-
aries ascertained and established; but upon the Address of both
Houses of Parliament it may be lawful to remove them.” See also, 1
Blackstone’s Commentaries (Lewis’ ed. 1902) 267. Nevertheless, b;
1776, the King had gained authority to appoint colonial judges to
serve at his pleasure, and this was one of the subjects of complaint
in our Declaration of Independence. Carpenter, Judicial Tenure in
the United States (1918), 2.

2 Documents Illustrative of the Formation of the Union of the
American States (1927) 622-623; 2 Farrand, The Records of the
Federal Convention of 1787 (1911), 428-429. A right of removal
of judges upon the joint address of two Houses of the Legislature

exists, however, in several states. Carpenter, supra, at 126-135.
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August 27, 1787, John Dickinson of Delaware moved
to insert after the words “good behavior” relating to fed-
eral judges, the words “provided that they may be re-
moved by the Executive on the application by the Senate
and House of Representatives.” Gouverneur Morris of
Pennsylvania “thought it a contradiction in terms to say
that the Judges should hold their offices during good
behavior, and yet be removeable without a trial. Besides
1t was fundamentally wrong to subject Judges to so arbi-
trary an authority.” Edmund Randolph, of Virginia,
“opposed the motion as weakening too much the inde-
pendence of the Judges.”

Eleven states were on the roll call. Of these M:
chusetts, New Jersey and North Carolina were absent.
Connecticut voted “ay,” but Delaware, Georgia, Mary-
land, New Hampshire, Pennsylvania, South Carolina and
Virginia voted “no,” and thereby rendered infinite service
to the cause of an independent judiciary.

The removal of federal judges was limited also not only
to those impeached by the House of Representatives for
“Treason, Bribery, or other high Crimes and Misde-
meanors” but to those convicted by the Senate upon the
“Concurrence of two thirds of the Members present.”
Art. T.°8 3.

ASSa-

TaE TWELVE IMPEACEMENT TRIALS

Under these provisions, the Senate has sat as a Court
of Impeachment 12 times. It sat first in 1798 to consider
charges against Senator William Blount. of Tennessee.
[t dismissed them for want of jurisdiction. recognizing
that the Constitution authorized each House to be the
judge of the qualifications of its own members. to punish
them for disorderly behavior and, with the coneurrence
of two-thirds, to expel a member. Art. I, § 5.

Of the other trials, two were of executive officers. One
was that of President Andrew Johnson, of Tennessee.

¢

He was acquitted in 1868. The other was that of Sec-
retary of War William W. Belknap, of Towa. He resigned
before trial and was acquitted in 1876.




The remaining nine were trials of judicial officers. illus-
trating that the impeachment provisions are applicable
especially to offending judges who enjoy substantially life
tenure in contrast to the limited tenures of executive
officers. Of the judges tried, one was an Associate Justice
of the Supreme Court, Samuel Chage, of Maryland. His
case will be considered later.

One trial was that of a judge of the Commerce Court,
Robert W. Archbald, of Pennsylvania. He was removed
from office in 1913.

The other seven trials were of District Judges. Of
these, Judge George W. English, of Illinois, resigned
before trial and his impeachment was dismissed in 1926.

Three judges were acquitted: James H. Peck, of
sourl, in 1831; Charles Swayne, of Florida. in 190 5
Harold Louderback, of California, in 1933, Three were
removed from office: John Pickering, of New Hampshire,
in 1804; West H. Humphreys, of Tennessee, in 1862; and
Halsted L. Ritter, of Florida, in 1936.

Thus, four trials have produced convictions and
only those four indicate what the Senate holds to be a
sufficient basis for the conviction and removal of a
judge. Two of these provide little guidance. Judge
Pickering, of New Hampshire, was removed following
a substantial concession that he was insane and a
recognition that no provision had then been made for
terminating his judicial tenure on grounds of disability.
Judge Humphreys, of Tennessee. was removed when he
adhered to the Confeders cy without resigning his federal
office. The removal of Judge Archbald in 1913 and that
of Judge Ritter in 1936 were. however, upon charges of
abuse of their offices for financial gain. In those cases,
impeachment, at last, was shown to be an effective, al-
though cumbersome, vehicle in certain circumstances.®

®In The American Commonwealth (1908) at page 211, Bryce

refers to impeachment under our Constitution as “the heaviest piece

of artillery in the congressional arsenal, but because it is so heavy
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The Archbald conviction has n ow established the juris-
diction of the House to impeach and that of the Sen 1ate to
convict and remove a judge because of his abuse of judicial
authority within the special constitutional meaning of
the words “high Crimes and Misdemeanors.” although
his offenses were not indictable. The Ritter trial demon-
strated also that, while a conviction carries with it re-
moval from office, future disqualification to hold office
rests in the discretion of the Senate.*

THE AcqQuIiTTAL OF JusticE Crasg

In the trial of Justice Cha ase, the controversy was not
whether the a authority of the Senate was broad enough
to reach an abuse of mriv(' al power involving corrup-
tion. It was whether the authority of the Senate could.
and should, be used to remove a judge because of
his procedural rulings, and his statements to a grand jury
In criticism of the National Administration. Alt] hough
the Constitutional Convention had rejected a provision
for the removal of a judge upon the joint address of the
Houses of Congress, nevertheless, this proceeding, in sub-
stance, was an attempt to reach that result through im-
peachment by the House and trial by the Senate for
alleged high crimes and misdemeanors,

The controversy struck deeper than was apparent. It
involved the cleavage between President Jefferson and
Chief Justice Marshall as to the latter’s doctrine of

it is unfit for ordinary use. Tt is like a hundred-ton gun which ne
complex machinery to bring it into position, an enormous (‘h:(
of powder to fire it, and g large mark to aim at.”

* Proceedings of the United States Senate in the Trial of Tm])r’;r,('?x—
ment of Halsted L. Ritter, S. Doe. No. 200, /~xh (m.

639-642 (1936): U. S. Const., Art. I, § 3; Art. [T,

In 1935, the Senate Rules for Impeachment 'i‘x'i:rla' also were
amended so that, H,um order of the Senate, its P residing Officer shall
appoint a committee of 12 Senators to receive evidence and take
testimony with :|F! the powers of the Senate. Rule XI, Senate
Manual (1953) 105.

[5]




judicial review of constitutional questions. Until the
opinion of the Supreme Court had been announced
in Marbury v. Madison, 1 Cranch 137, the doctrine of
final judicial review was not widely understood. After
that opinion, Jefferson had little hope of its modification
by the Supreme Court which, in 1804, consisted of five
Federalists and one Anti-Federalist (William Johnson).
If, however, the impeachment and conviction of judges
could be made substantially equivalent to their removal
upon a joint address of the Houses of \‘011(11'0:’95\‘. the su-
premacy of the ilxr{i(‘?m‘\' would be at the mercy of a
majority of the House of Representatives when Rup'\oltod
I)v two-thirds of the members present in the Senat

That road was to be explored.

The events speak for themselves:

February ‘%‘. Lr» )3—The opinion in Marbury v. Mad:-
son was announced.

May 2, 1803—Justice Samuel Chase, while on cireuit
at Baltimore, addressed the grand jury in terms of doubt-
ful propriety understandably offensive to President Jef-
ferson. He said:

“Where law is uncertain, partial, or arbitrary . . .
where justice is not impartially administered to all;
where property is insecure, and the person 1s liable
to insult and violence without redress by law,—the
people are not free, whatever may be their form of
government. To this situation I greatly fear we are
fast approaching. . . . The late f1lt0.atlon of the
Federal judiciary by the abolition of the office of the
sixteen circuit judges, and the recent change in our
State Constitution by the establishing of universal
suffrage, :'ml he further alteration that is contem-
plated in our State judiciary (if adopted) will in my

judgment 1-11\(* away all security for property and
personal liberty. The independence of the national

judiciary is already shaken to its foundation, and
the virtue of the people alone can restore it.

[6]




Our republican Constitution will sink into a mob-
ocracy,—the worst of all possible governments.”
This supplemented the Justice’s active campaigning in
1800 for the reelection of President John Adams over
Jefferson, his long-standing reputation for overbearing
manners and his vigorous efforts to enforce the Alien and
Sedition Aects which Jefferson abhorred.
May 13, 1803—TJefferson wrote to Representative Jo-
eph H. Nicholson, of Maryland—

“You must have heard of the extraordinary charge
of Chase to the grand jury at Baltimore. Ought
this seditious and official attack on the principles of
our Constitution and on the prc oceedings of a State
to go unpunished; and to whom so pointedly as
yourself will the public look for the necessary meas-
ures? I ask those questions for your consideration :
for myself, it is better that I should not interfere.” ¢

January 5, 1804—The House of Representatives gave
consideration to a motion to appoint a Committee to in-
quire into the official conduct of Justice Chase and report
whether he had so acted as to require the interposition of
the constitutional power of the House. Representative
John Randolph, of Virginia, Joseph H. Nicholson and
others were appointed to that Committee.”

March 12, 1804—Following a plea by Judge Pickering’s
son that his father was insane, the Senate, in the absence
of any statutory provision for the judge’s retirement for
such disability, found him guilty as charged and ordered
him removed from office.

°2 Adams, History of the United States of America During the
First Administration of Thomas Jefferson (1898), 148-149.

2 Adams, supra, at 150. Nicholson already was one of the man-
agers of the impeachment trial of District Judee Pickering instituted
at the suggestion of Jefferson because of the judge’s unfitness to pe
form his duties due to intoxication and other causes. 7d.. at 1 43-1
" Evans, Report of the Trial of the Hon. Samuel Chase (l\()

old,
f]

Introduction, 1, 5. Although Randolph was but 30 years olc
took the lead. He had studied law and was recognized as an effective

speaker but had never practiced his profession.




On the same day, the House adopted its Committee’s
Report recommending the impeachment of Justice Samuel
Chase for high crimes and misdemeanors.

December 5, 1804—A Committee of seven was ap-
pointed to manage the Chase impeachment. It included
John Randolph, Caesar A. Rodney, of Delaware, and
Joseph H. Nicholson.®

December 7, 1804—Having approved eight articles of
impeachment, personally drafted by Randolph, the House
transmitted them to the Senate.? They charged that the
Justice—

While presiding on ecireuit in Philadelphia, in April
and May, 1800, at the trial of Fries for high treason (1)

delivered an opinion on a question of law 1(‘11(1 12 to pre

ted counsel 101
Fries from recurring to certain Enelis J”"I)()l‘ltl@.‘i and
from citing certain statutes of the T mtm] States; and (3)
debarred counsel for Fries from addres: ing the jury on the
law as well as on the facts of the case.

0
1a
1
n

udice the jury against Fries: (2) pro

[I. While presiding on circuit in Richi mmd. also in
May, 1800, at the trial of Callender for a cr minal libel of
President John Adams, had refused to excuse a juror who
stated that “he had made up his mind as to the publica-
tion from which the words, ch arged to be libellous
were extracted.”

[TI. At the same trial had refused to permit a material
witness to testify for Callender “on pretence that the
sald witness could not prove the truth of the vhole of
one of the charges contained in the indictment.”

[V. During the same trial the Justice’s conduct had
been marked “by manifest injustice, partiality and in-
temperance, viz:” (1) in compelling prisoner’s counsel to
reduce to writing, for their admission or rejection, all

s, supra, Introduction, at 12; 1 Warren, The Supreme Court
in United States History (rev. ed. 1937), 289.
®The summaries here presented are made from the articles as
reported in Evans, supra, Appendix, at 1-6. For l’~-nz}nlhh'~ author-
ship of the articles, see 1 Memoirs of John Quincy Adams (1874) 364
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to postpone the trial bccdmo of the absence of a material
witness; (3) in using “unusual, rude, and contemptuous
expressions towards the prisoner’s counsel.” and fals sely
insinuating that such counsel “wished to excite the public
fears”; (4) in making repeated and vexatious interrup-
tions of counsel, which induced such counsel to abandon
the cause; and (5) in an indecent solicitude for the
viction of the accused.

V. At the same trial had An(stml Callender and com-
mitted him to close custody, whereas the laws of Vi irginia,
prescribed that the court in such a case should order the
clerk merely to issue a summons for the accused to appear

questions to be asked of a certain witness ; (2) in refusing

con-

and make answer.

VI. At the same trial had required the accused to be
tried during the term at which he had been indicted,
whereas the laws of Virginia prescribed that the accused
be held to answer at the next term.

VII. While n'(‘:idinﬂ' on circuit in New Castle, Del-
aware, in June, 1800, after the grand jury had found no
bills of indictment, thc Justice, nevertheless, had directed
the attention of the grand jury to the presence in Wil-
mington of “a most seditious printer” and had enjoined
the district attorney to examine a certain file of papers
in order to find in them ground for the prosecution of
their printer.

VIII. While presiding on circuit in Baltimore. in May
1803, in addressing the grand jury, the Justice “did. in

a manner highly unwarrantable, endeavor to excite the
odium of the said grand jury, and of the good people of
Maryland against the government of the United States,
by delivering opinions, which. even if the judicial au-
thority were competent to their expression, on a suitable
occasion in a proper manner, were at that time and as
delivered by him, highly indecent, extra-judicial and tend-
ing to prostitute the high judicial character with which
he was invested to the low purpose of an electioneering
partizan.”

[9]




December 21, 1804—Senator John Quincy Adams, of
Massachusetts, recorded a striking avowal of the purpose
of this impeachment, as stated by Anti-Federalist Senator
William B. Giles, of Virginia, a leader in the Senate. The
avowal was made in a conversation between Senator
Giles, Senator Adams, Senator Israel Smith, of Vermont,

and Representative John Randolph. Senator Adams’
notes recite that

191 Memoirs of John Quincy Adams, supra, a 323

“Giles labored with excessive earnestness to convince
Smith of certain prineciples, upon which not only Mr.
Chase, but all the other Judges of the Supreme Court,
excepting the one last appointed [William Johnson,
appointed by President Jefferson], must be im-
peached and removed. He treated with the utmos

t
contempt the idea of an independent judiciary—said

there was not a word about such an independence
in the Constitution, and that their pretensions to it
were nothing more nor less than an attempt to estab-
The
power of impeachment was given without limitation

lish an aristocratic despotism in themselves.

to the House of Representatives; the power of trying
impeachments was given equally without limitation
to the Senate; and if the Judges of the Supreme Court
should dare, As THEY ®AD DONE, to declare an act of
Congress unconstitutional, or to send a mandamus
to the Secretary of State, AS THEY HAD DONE, it was
the undoubted right of the House of Representatives
to impeach them, and of the Senate to remove them,
for giving such opinions, however honest or sincere
they may have been in entertaining them. . .. I
perceive, also, that the impeachment system is to be
pursued, and the whole bench of the Supreme Court
to be swept away, because their offices are wanted

And in the present state of things I am convinced it
is as easy for Mr. John Randolph and Mr. Giles to
do this as to say it.” *°

1

“It is impossible to put too much emphasis on Giles’ avowal. His

[10]




January 2, 1805—The stage was set for high drama.
The Senate met in its chamber in the North Building of
the Capitol—a rectangular building having neither of the
great wings that are now attached to it and having no
dome between it and the Hall of the House of Representa-
tives. The chamber was above the ground floor and di-
rectly over the courtroom of the Supreme Court.* As
presiding officer, Vice President Aaron Burr had changed
the seating arrangements to conform to those of a court
in which the 34 Senators were to be the judges.’? He
placed the Senators in equal numbers on his right and
left, seated in double straight rows at desks covered with
crimson cloth. In front of him sat the Secretary of the
Senate and the Sergeants at Arms of the House and Sen-
ate. TFacing the Court, on the presiding officer’s right, was
a box for the managers of the House. On
another for the accused and his counsel.
were covered with blue cloth.

At the rear of the semi-circular chamber were three
benches, rising in tiers, for members of the House, with a
box for members of the Executive Department, foreign

his left was
Botl
Botl

oth boxes

ministers and others. A temporary gallery, reserved for
ladies, had been built above the seats of the House mem-
bers and beneath the permanent gallery. Those seats
and the temporary gallery were covered with green cloth.
The public was admitted to the permanent semi-circular
gallery at the rear.

The procedure resembled that of a court. The Secre-
tary read the return of the summons. Proclamation was

)

statement 1s the key to the Chase impeachment.” 3 Beveridge, Life
of John Marshall (1919), 159, n. 5.

11 About 60 years later, this chamber, in turn, was to begin a service
of 75 years as the courtroom of the Supreme Court.

2 Burr came to this session under indictment for the murder of
Alexander Hamilton, whom he had killed in a duel less than six
months before. This trial was Burr’s last substantial service in
public office, and it was universally recognized that he presided with
marked credit to the Senate and himself. 3 Beveridge, supra, at
182-183. For the arrangement of the chamber, see Evans, supra,

at 1.

[11]




made that Samuel Chase either appear or that his default

be recorded. He advanced to the center of the chamber

and stood there—a signer of the Declaration of Inde-

pendence, a former outstanding member of the Con-
tinental Congress, known as the “Demosthenes of
Maryland,” a former judge of the Criminal Court of
Baltimore, ‘a former chief justice of the General Court
of Maryland, an outstanding and vigorous Federalist, and
a Justice of the Supreme Court appointed by President
Washington in 1796. Sixty-three years old, six feet tall,
large of frame, with long white hair, stout, ruc ldy of com-
plexion, and afflicted with gout, he answered to his nat

Y
and asked for a chair, which was furnished him. The
managers from the House were not present. Ju.c-‘l(m

1€

Chase then rose and made a respectful address. ask
for time within which to prepare a detailed answer to th
charges against him. He asked ‘that he be allowed unti
the next session of Congress V\'Hich. in regular course
would begin December 2, 18051

)

January 3, 1805. The constitutionally required oath
was administered by the Secretary of the Senate to the
Vice President and by ‘the latter to the Senators. The
Senate, by a vote of 12 to 18, defeated a motion to set
the Justice’s answer date as requested on the first Mon-

13 While the Justice’s address was generally restrained and non-
provocative, something of his suppressed feeling appears in the
following sentence:

acrimonious as are the terms in which many of the accusations
are conceived; harsh and opprobious as are the epithets wherewith it
has been thought proper to assail my name and character, by those
who were ‘puling in their nurse’s arms’ [probably referring espe-
cially to John Randolph], whilst I was contributine my

to lay the ground work of American liberty; I yet thank my accusers,

whose functions as members of the government of my country I
highly respect, for having at lenath put their charges into a definite
form, susceptible of refutation; and for havine thereby afforded me
an opportunity of vindicating my innocence, in the face of this
honorable court, of my country, and of the world.” Evans, supra,
av .

[12]




day in December. By vote of 21 to nine, it set it on
February 4, 1805.

February 4, 1805—In the same dramatic setting, the
proceedings were resumed.’* The members of the House.
preceded by their Speaker and their seven managers, took
their seats.”” Justice Chase presented his counsel.®® The
reading of Chase’s answer by his counsel consumed several
hours. The closing portion—in 'the nature of a rel igious
appeal—was read by the Justice himself.””

February 8-20—The Senate met nearly every week day
as a Court of Impeachment. It heard over 50 witnesses.’

4 February 4, 1805, was the ninth anniver ary of the Just
oath of office as a member of the S me Court. Also, on February
4, 1805, the Supreme Court opened its recular February Term. It
met and heard arguments from \Irmrl-ﬂ' ih;'unzh Saturday through-
out the month. Justice Chase s only on February 5 and 6.

> The managers were lu'p:'( S i

sar A. Rodney, of I)vf-u"-‘lv’; ]
Peter Early, of \’}rv-f)"vri:::

bell, of Tennessee; and (
tl

e Hv presented Luthe
land and a1 wlh,\\![‘l ric
L;u']u-l'. lu:'mr'n_\‘ a lfn‘uA g Federalist member of the House from
South Carolina and, subsequently Senator from Maryland; and
Joseph Hopkinson, well known as the author of “Hail Columbia
later a Federalist !3"1»1'(«(‘111:1'iw w‘m"l Pennsylvania and ml:\]lg a
United States District Judee. h not mer ed in the record
on this day, his counsel also included [:;1'1'\‘ e, former Attorney
General under Presidents Washington and John Adams, and Philip
Barton Key, a brother of the author I'he Star Spangled Ii;z,nn:*r,"
and himself later to serve as a Feder Representative from Mar

IT

land. 2 Adams, supra, at 227 et se q-; 1 Memoirs of John Quincy
Adams, supra, at b seq.; Evans, supra, at 116 et s

17 February 7—The Replication of the House was filed and read.
February 8—A brief sessi vas held and the examination of wit-
nesses began February 9. 1Tin month, the Senate conducted

legislative work and its consultatic In a committee room. It
met in legislative session usually at 10:30 a. m. 1 Memoirs of John
Quincy Adams, supra, at 345-348: Evans, supra, Appendix, at 40.

'8 Chief Justice John Marshall and his brother William testified
on behalf of Justice Chase and were cross-examined. The Chief
Justice’s testimony related to the Callender trial which had been

[13]




The testimony, in general, substantiated the factua
events charged without establishing their illegality, al-
though in some instances indicating their doubtful
propriety.

February 20-27—Full arguments were made by both
sides. Counsel for the defense were, generally, more
impressive than the managers for the House. John Ran-
dolph, leader of the managers, who was exhausted by his
recent efforts in the Yazoo land scandal debate, suffered
by ecomparison with Joseph Hopkinson and Luther Mar-
tin. Counsel for the defense pressed the argument that
under the Constitution, impeachment was and should be
limited to indictable crimes and misdemeanors. ]
House managers, instead of taking a firm position in favor
of a broader interpretation, substantially conceded this
point, and attempted to bring the articles of impeach-
ment within that interpretation. On Wednesday, Feb-
ruary 27, the Senate determined ‘that it would pronounce
judgment on Friday, March 1.

March 1, 1805—At twelve thirty, the Vice President
was in the chair. All 34 Senators were present. Senator
Tracy, of Connecticut, had been brought in on a couch
but he rose from it and took '1 1s regular seat. Nine of the

Senators were i"m‘x(h ists. wenty-five were Anti-Fed-

111
1ly

eralists (then generally known as Republicans). As a

two-thirds vote of the Senators present was necessary to
1
l

0 so was 23. If three Anti-
1'(‘(!:*1:1]1:»‘-1,\' and the nine Federalists voted “Not guilty,”

onvict, the vote required to

there could be no conviction. The Secretary read the
first article—relating to procedure at the Fries trial. He
then put the question: “Is Samuel Chase, esq. guilty or
held in Richmond while Marshall was practicing at that Bar. In that
case, he had secured the release of the Sheriff of Henrico County from
jury service. On cross-examination, a l¢ rgely 1successful effort
was made to obtain from him a eriticism of the legality and propriety
of Justice Chase’s rulings on procedure. Evans, supra, at 69-71, and
see 64-68.
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not guilty of a high crime or misdemeanor in the article
Just read?” ** Federalist Senator John Quincy Adams, of
Massachusetts, was the first called. He voted “Not
guilty.” The first break came with Senator Bradley,
Anti-Federalist Senator from Vermont. He voted “Not
guilty.” Anti-Federalist Senator Gaillard, of South Caro-
lina, who h 1 entered the Senate January 31 to fill a
vacancy, was the next to cross the party line. He voted
“Not guilty.” The next response was a major Llpuie
Anti-Federalist Senator Giles, of Virginia, who had ¢
pioned the broadest possible scope for the Fcnztc S juris-
diction to impeach, voted “Not guilty.” When the call
was completed, 18 had voted “Not guilty” and 16
“Guilty.” The prosecution had received two less votes
than a plain majority and seven less than the constitu-
tionally required majority of 23.

On the second article, Senator Giles voted “Guilty,” and
there were several other changes but the total was even
more favorable to Justice Chase than on the first.
Twenty-four voted “Not guilty”’—10 “Guilty.”

On the third article—relating to the exclusion of testi-
mony in the ('u[/m//("' sase—the tide turned slightly.
There were 16 votes of “Not guilty” to 18 of “Guilty.”
For the first time, there was a majority for conviction.
The vote to convict was, however, still five short of that
required.

On the fourth article, the total was the same—16
guilty” and 18 “Guilty.”

On the fifth article, in which Justi(‘o Chase was charged

(K\ L
(0}

with arresting Callender instead of summoning him under

1 These proceedings are taken from Evans, supra, at 268, and the
I:Milll;tlf.\n of votes from the Appendix of that hook at 62. Before
the first roll call the Vice President ordered the officers in the upper

ralleries to turn their faces toward the spectators and to seize and
commit to prison the first person who should make the smallest noise
or disturbance. 1 Memoirs of John Quincy Adams, supra, at 362—

363, 3 Beveridee, supra, at 217-219.
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Virginia practice, the Justice was completely vindicated.
The vote was 34 “Not guilty.”
On the sixth article—in which the Justice was charged

with requiring the accused to be tried at the current term

instead of at th Xt term—the Justice’s vindication was

VadS

1
almost as complet “Not guilty,” and four “Guilty.”

On the seventh artic —charging that the Justice had
improperly instiga the investigation of a seditious
printer—the vote was 24 “Not guilty” to ten “Guilty.”

Finally came the crucial test—th. eighth and last arti-

cle. This charged the offense which had brought on the
impeachment—Justice Chase’s remarks to the grand jury
at Baltimore. Again Senator Bradley, of Vermont, voted
“Not guilty.” Again Senator Gaillard, of South Carolina,

voted “Not guilty.” This time. Senator Giles, of Vir-

I

ginia, voted “Guilty.

‘he necessary twelfth vote was
not assured until the call reached Anti-Federalist Senator
Mitehill, of New York. He recently had come to the
Senate from the House of Representatives where, in the
preceding year, he had been one of the managers for the
House in the impeachment trial of District Judge Picker-
ing. He voted “Not guilty.” When the call was com-
pleted, there were 15 votes of “Not guilty” to 19 of
“Guilty.” This was the highest total that was reached in
favor of the prosecution but it was four below the number
required to conviet. The independence of the judiciary
was saved by that margin. Whatever credit goes to the
Constitutional Convention, for protecting the independ-
ence of the judiciary by its conscious omission of the pro-
posal for the removal of judges upon the joint address of
the two Houses of ( ‘()117;‘1'(’;;:)1:111.% be shared with the credit
for its insistence upon the concurrence of two-thirds of
the members present in the Senate to reach a conviction
after trial on impeachment.

The Vice President announced: “There not being a
constitutional magjority on any one article, it becomes my
duty to pronounce that Samuel Chase, esq. is acquitted

[ //;’J




on the articles of impeachment exhibited against him by
the house of representatives.” Thereupon, the Court of
Impeachment adjourned sine die.

The sequel confirmed Senator Adams’ analysis of the
proceedings. Randolph at once proposed, in ‘the House
of Representatives, a constitutional amendment whereby
federal judges might be removed on the joint address of
the two Houses of Congress.® It never has been adopted.

While the grounds for the Senate’s acquittal of Justice
Chase cannot be determined, it is clear that two-thirds of
the Senators were not willing to remove from office a Jus-
tice of the Supreme Court on the charges and proof ad-
duced. Some may have voted against removal because
they believed that impeachment was not authorized by
the Constitution for nonindictable offenses. Others may
have voted against removal because, although they be-
lieved that some nonindictable offenses were impeachable,
yet those charged and proved in this case were not suffi-
ciently serious to come within the kind of “high Crimes
and Misdemeanors” that would justify the removal of

Justice Chase from office. Still others may have voted

ce
against removal simply because the offenses charged were

vyl

not proved to have been committed.

Since the Archbald and Ritter convictions and remov-
als in 1913 and 1936, it is, however, now reasonable to
assume that the Senate recognizes that there are at least
some nonindictable offenses ‘that are impeachable and
which, if proved, may lead to removal from office. At
the same time, the Senate’s acquittal of Justice Chase
and of other judges has demonstrated that the Senate is
reluctant to weaken the independence of ‘the judiciary.
There is ground to believe that both the American people
and their Senators expect from their courts, no less than
from ‘their baseball umpires, honest, informed and inde-

014 Annals of Cong. 1213 (1805). Nicholson added a proposal
that State Legislatures 1 at will, recall their Senators. Ibid.

See also, 15 Annals of Cong. 499-507 (1806).
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pendent judgments, regardless of whom the decisions may
disappoint.

Our legal profession owes no more sacred obligation
than to justify such a faith in the integrity and inde-
pendence of the judiciary.*

2 Adams, History of the United States Duri

I

tion of Thomas Jefferson (1898) 14:

Adams, J. Q., 1 Memoirs of John Quincy Adams (1874).

3 Beveridge, Life of John Marshall (1919), 157-222.

Campbell, Four Score Forgotten Men (1950),

Carpenter, Judicial Tenure in the United States (1918).

Carrington, The Impeachment Trial of Samuel Chase, 9 Va. L. Rev.
485-500 (1923).

Carson, History of the Supreme Court of the United States (1902),
187-188, 208.

Evans, Report of the Trial of the Hon. Samuel Chase (1805).

2 Farrand, The Records of the Federal Convention of 1787 (1911).

Miller, Crisis in Freedom (Alien and Sedition Acts) (1951).

Simpson, Federal Impeachments, 64 Pa. L. Rey. 651-695, 803-830
(1916).

ction and Tenure of Judges, 38 A. B. A. Rep. (1913) 418.

I Warren, The Supreme Court in United States History (rev. ed.
1937) 269-315.

Biographical Directory of the American Congress (1950).

Congressional Directory, List of Impeachment Trials (1953), 283.

Documents Illustrative of Formation of the Union of the Ameri-
can States (1927), House Doc. No. 398, 69th Cong., 1st Sess.

“1 “No conviction is deeper in my mind, than that the maintenance

of the judicial power is essential and indispensable to the very being

]
1

f this government. The Constitution without it would be 3
of this government. The Constitution without it would be no con-

stitution; the government, no government.” 8 Works of Daniel

Webster (6th ed. 1853) 176, and see Haines, The American Doctrine

of Judicial Supremacy (2d ed. 1932), 493.

[18]




ﬂ,,.,a.:yomw-
J"_(‘_‘ A T

cec TANTY ¥
‘hl'.y I-1 » lf/,"‘,ﬁ/ ‘It's good to be on atirun shi pA[RMﬁI :,———f-n
Crv’fc 248

fe We Bne o Hu Cb" . (‘I'(/ \/v[ﬁ“ /cf(J f? Vﬁ{;q

- o Conple
s s b Z-I J'u reos Cont 9 M vJ.
WMA-»,L. (niverr. ?ffl‘luu’}“ g = /i
or vy ;

'Df'}ﬂﬂ.“’:ar,‘- ::.:2’ “-7,“( ‘ .‘ sohs NJJ‘-’IA-’_/}&\ 13,
ZA}.’::“J‘: _ st tunllk Bbet 7 ﬁC
L v gt flaex S oot
tsl. fopcsi. best sr5hee Usm R . J. A J

Selos » Hovold 13urk~—

M.V."NOORDAM" 10,726 Gross Reg. Tons




8282 a0 o0 vt s j5 s




Supreme Court of the United States
Washington, B. C.

JAssociate Justice of the Supreme Court of the United States.

Approved:

Chief Justice of the United States.




Supreme Court of the Hnited States
Washington, B. C.

appointed to serve as my

from the __1st

JAssociate Justice of the Supreme Court of the United States.

Approved:

Chief Justice of the United States,




Supreme Court of the United States
Pashington, B, C.
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Approved:
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Supreme Court of the United States
YWashington, B. C.
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appointed to serve as my . Junior Law Clerk

from the 1st August

\

Approved:
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Approved:
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MEMORANDUM TO THE CONFERENCE

In the memorandum which I circulated this morn—

ing, I referred to No, 750 — United States v. Berman as

though it were here on a petition for certiorari. It ié,
however, an appeal by the United States from the dismissal
of an indictment by the District/Court.

Accordingly, instead of granting a petition for
certiorari and then reversing, citing Nos. 63k, 635 and 636,
the appropriate disposition would be to reverse sumarily, citing

Nos. 63L, 635 and 636.

June 10, 1953

Or\\ngxc\\ Y:\\Cck o Ne Lf@vm@uw\a\c{iﬁ)&




MEMORANDUM TO THE CONFERENCE

The cases listed below are related to the Bridges (No., 5L8) and
Grainger (Nos, 63L, 635, 636) cases, They will be before us on Saturday,
> 13, I suggest the following dispositions:

1% No, 5L9 = Bridges v, United States, Here the same District

Court that convicted Bridges in No, 5.8 revoked his citizenship, under

§ 338(e) of the Nationality Act of 19)0. I suggest that we grant this
petition for certiorari, vacate the judgment and remand the cause to the
District Court for reconsideration in the light of our opinion in No., 5L8 -

Bridges v, United States,

(The United States apparently also has pending a civil proceeding to
revoke Bridges' citizenship but that case is not here,)

2o No, 527 — United States v, Klinger, We have voted to affirm this

Jjudgment, without opinion, by an evenly divided Court, Because of the several
issues involved, that affirmance is consistent with my views stated for the
Court in the Grainger cases and I believe that our opinions in the Bridges

and Grainger cases eliminate every substantial basis for a reargument in the
Klinger case,

3« No, 750 — United States v, Berman, The same District Court that

dismissed the indictments in the Grainger cases dismissed this indictment, It
was filed, in 1952, against respondents charging embezzlement, in 1916, of

funds of the Commodity Credit Corporation after those funds came into the hands

of the respondents through sales of wool made by them on behalf of the C,C.C,

The case also includes a conspiracy count relating to the same fraud., I recommend
that certiorari be granted, the judgment reversed and the cazuse remanded to

the District Court, citing Nos, 63L, 635 and 636 — United States v, Grainger,

etce
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not comprehend the proof by two witnesses that the
meeting on Blennerhassett’s Island was procured by
the prisoner. On that point the court for the present
withholds its opinion for reasons which have been
already assigned; and as it is understood from the
statements made on the part of the prosecution that
no such testimony exists, if there be such let it be
offered, and the court will decide upon it.

“The jury have now heard the opinion of the court
on the law of the case. They will apply that law to
the facts, and will find a verdict of guilty or not
guilty as their own consciences may direct.” 25 Fed.
Cas., No. 14,693, p. 180.

The court granted the prosecution’s request to consider
the court’s opinion overnight. The next morning the
prosecutor informed the court that he had nothing to
offer to the jury, either in the way of evidence or argu-
ment. The jury retired and in a short time returned with
the following verdict, prepared in a form of their origina-

tion: “We of the jury say that Aaron Burr is not proved
to be guilty under this indictment by any evidence sub-
mitted to us. We therefore find him not guilty.”*®
Ibid.

16 Burr at once objected to the form of this “not-proven” or “Scotch
Verdict” in place of a simple one of “not guilty.” The Chief Justice
replied that the verdict was, in effect, the same as a verdict of
acquittal, that it should remain as found by the jury, and that an
entry be made on the record of “not guilty.” Hill, Decisive Battles
of the Law, 62.

As in each of the related proceedings, the necessary proof to sustain
the charges had been found lacking when put to the final test. Thus
acquitted of treason, Burr was then tried on the indictment for the
misdemeanor. He was acquitted September 14, 1807. 25 Fed. Cas.,
No. 14,694, pp. 187-201. The Government dropped its prosecutions
of most of his associates. The District Attorney, however, sought
further commitments of Burr and Blennerhassett for trial in the
Mississippt Territory and in Ohio. Commitments for treason were
denied. Commitments for misdemeanors in Ohio were ordered and
bail was posted, but the accused apparently were never indicted.




